
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Soledad Aguilar, Alexandra Conliffe, Laura Russo, Lynn Wagner, Ph.D., and 
Kunbao Xia. The Digital Editor is Ángeles Estrada. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org>. The Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James 
“Kimo” Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development – DFID), the 
Government of the United States of America (through the Department of State Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific Affairs), the Government 
of Canada (through CIDA), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), the German 
Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU), the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and the European Commission (DG-
ENV). General Support for the Bulletin during 2009 is provided by the Government of Australia, the Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and 
Water Management, the Ministry of Environment of Sweden, the New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, SWAN International, Swiss Federal Office for the 
Environment (FOEN), the Finnish Ministry for Foreign Affairs, the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies - IGES), 
the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (through the Global Industrial and Social Progress Research Institute - GISPRI), the Government of Iceland, and 
the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). Funding for translation of the Bulletin into Spanish at this meeting has been provided by the Spanish Ministry of 
the Environment and Rural and Marine Affairs. Funding for translation of the Bulletin into French at this meeting has been provided by the International Organization of 
the Francophonie (IOF). The opinions expressed in the Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or other donors. Excerpts from the 
Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications with appropriate academic citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests to provide reporting services, 
contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org>, +1-646-536-7556 or 300 East 56th St., 11A, New York, New York 10022, United States of America. 
The ENB Team at UNCCD COP 9 can be contacted by e-mail at <lynn@iisd.org>.

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/desert/cop9/

COP 9
#3

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 4 No. 221 Wednesday, 23 September 2009

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

UNCCD COP 9 HIGHLIGHTS: 
TUESDAY, 22 SEPTEMBER 2009

Delegates to UNCCD COP 9 concluded their discussion of 
the agenda and programme of work, and election of officers, 
during a morning plenary, and then convened in the Committee 
of the Whole (COW) and Committee on Science and 
Technology (CST). 

PLENARY
COP President Homero Bibiloni opened the meeting and 

delegates approved the agenda. He summarized discussions 
held in the Bureau on the high-level segment and participation 
by civil society. Delegates then elected the Vice-Presidents: 
Stephen Muwaya (Uganda), Sandjima Dounia (Chad), 
Xianliang Yi (China), Naser Moghaddasi (Iran), Yuriy Kolmaz 
(Ukraine), Giergi Kolbin (Georgia), Alejandro Jacques 
(Mexico), Christine Dawson (US) and Franz Breitweiser 
(Austria). Delegates elected Klaus Kellner (South Africa) as 
CST Chair and Ismail Abdel Galil Hussein (Egypt) as COW 
Chair. Delegates noted that Israel Torres (Panama) had been 
elected to chair CRIC 7 and 8. 

Delegates approved the accreditation of NGOs, IGOs and 
observers (ICCD/COP(9)/16). 

Delegates discussed when the new CST Chair would 
commence his work. The ASIA GROUP, AFRICA GROUP and 
EU, opposed by the LAC GROUP, suggested that the Chair 
assume his duties on Friday, 25 September. The LAC GROUP 
said the Rules of Procedure should be observed, while SYRIA 
cautioned that Africa would have four Bureau seats. The 
President said, due to lack of consensus, the new CST Chair 
should take office immediately, and suggested that there be a 
wide collaboration between the outgoing and incoming chairs.

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE
PROGRAMME AND BUDGET: The Secretariat presented 

the Secretariat's programme and budget (ICCD/COP(9)/5 and 
Add.1) and the GM presented the programme and budget for 
the GM for the biennium 2010-2011 (ICCD/COP(9)/5/Add.2). 

The EU stressed the need to know which financial resources 
come from the core, supplementary, and other extrabudgetary 
sources. JAPAN and the US expressed concern regarding the 
budget increase given the current financial climate. The US 
said the budget allocates resources for activities beyond the 
Convention and Strategy’s mandates. The LAC GROUP said 
not all countries in his regional annex agreed with the previous 
day’s G-77/China support for the budget. 

The LAC GROUP lamented that the Secretariat distributed 
an informal document only prior to the current session, although 
his region had raised questions pertaining to the budget at their 
regional meeting. 

ASSESSMENT OF THE GM BY THE JIU: Even Fontaine 
Ortiz, JIU Chairman, presented the JIU report on the assessment 
of the GM (JIU/Rep 2009/4). He explained that a comprehensive 
evaluation of the GM’s performance necessitated an examination 
of the Convention’s global architecture. He said the GM’s 
general performance was good and therefore inspectors focused 
on the GM-Secretariat relationship. The JIU concluded, inter 
alia, that there is: a poor Joint Programme of Work; poor 
coordination and unclear mandates; and insufficient promotion 
of synergies between the two institutions and with other UN 
agencies. 

The LAC GROUP, the AFRICA GROUP and others 
expressed concern at the report’s late dissemination and the lack 
of timely translations. UGANDA asked to what extent the JIU 
had followed its original TOR. 

The LAC GROUP said the GM should improve efficiency, 
transparency and accountability to the COP, and the COP should 
provide clear guidance in this regard.

BENIN and SENEGAL questioned the elimination of 
scenario 3, in which the GM becomes a fund, with MOROCCO 
noting that the UNFCCC established several funds.

SWITZERLAND, SOUTH AFRICA and the GAMBIA 
stressed the importance of a decision to address GM-Secretariat 
coordination. 

In the afternoon session, Christian Mersmann, GM, said the 
GM supports the JIU’s five recommendations. He added that 
scenario 1, which sees an improved status quo, echoes those 
recommendations. He said with scenario 2, the Convention will 
have to be reopened. 

NORWAY and JAPAN asked the legal implications of 
merging the GM and Secretariat. CSOs urged that institutional 
reforms not overlook civil society participation. GUATEMALA 
inquired how many times the Secretariat and the GM had met 
over the last year. 

A contact group was discussed. BRAZIL and ARGENTINA 
said TORs should be established. PANAMA and COSTA RICA 
said an Ad Hoc working group should be established and a 
decision on institutional arrangements made at a future COP. 
Later in the afternoon, the COW Chair read a proposed mandate 
for the contact group. ALGERIA requested the mandate text 
in writing and proposed amending it. Participants addressed 
at length whether to review the mandate of the contact group 
in the COW or in the contact group itself. The LAC GROUP, 
with support from the US, EU, many African parties and others 



Wednesday, 23 September 2009   Vol. 4 No. 221  Page 2
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

asked to propose an amendment. Some parties said they could 
not discuss the amendment without translation. Parties agreed 
to review the mandate and the amendment in informal regional 
consultations on 23 September, following which the contact 
group would meet and adopt its mandate. 

REGIONAL COORDINATION: The Secretariat introduced 
the document on mechanisms to facilitate regional coordination 
of the implementation of the Convention (ICCD/COP(9)/3). 
The EU, SWITZERLAND and NORWAY supported making 
use of existing regional coordination mechanisms of other UN 
agencies, and avoiding creating overlapping structures. The 
LAC GROUP and SAUDI ARABIA emphasized the importance 
of regional mechanisms. PAKISTAN supported establishing 
regional mechanisms with their necessary budget, while JAPAN 
encouraged maximizing the utility of existing institutions to 
maintain budgetary levels. NORWAY, SWITZERLAND and 
the LAC GROUP opposed decentralizing the functions of the 
Secretariat from Bonn to the regions. 

TERMS OF REFERENCE OF CRIC: The COW Chair 
announced that the agenda item on the CRIC TOR scheduled for 
this session would be addressed at the first meeting of the CRIC. 
The EU stressed that the COW, not the CRIC, should establish 
the TOR. Executive Secretary Gnacadja clarified that the CRIC 
will review its TORs and send its suggestions to the COW for its 
consideration.

ALIGNMENT OF ACTION PROGRAMMES WITH THE 
STRATEGY: The Secretariat presented document ICCD/COP 
(9)/2 and Add.1 on the alignment of action programmes with the 
Strategy. The EU said his group wishes to see how the guidelines 
would be implemented. MOROCCO, GUATEMALA and 
COSTA RICA commented that it is difficult for the guidelines to 
be applied by regions and countries with different conditions. 

COMMITTEE ON SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY
CST Chair Kellner opened CST 9, and said the CST should 

take into account emerging issues. He proposed permitting 
CST 8 Chair William Dar to serve as Chair until Friday, 25 
September. BRAZIL, ARGENTINA, BOLIVIA and CHILE 
cautioned that would be against the Rules of Procedure. 
MALI, MOROCCO, SOUTH AFRICA, BURKINA FASO and 
BELARUS supported having the CST 8 and 9 Chairs co-chair 
the session. CST 9 Chair Kellner said he would chair the meeting 
in collaboration with CST 8 Chair Dar.

ELECTION OF OFFICERS: CST 9 elected Mihajlo 
Markovic (Bosnia-Herzegovina), Warapon Waramit (Thailand), 
Cesar Altamirano (Bolivia), and Lawrence Townley-Smith 
(Canada) as Vice-Chairs for the CST 9 Bureau. 

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA AND ORGANIZATION 
OF WORK: On the provisional agenda (ICCD/COP(9)/CST/1), 
JAMAICA, supported by BRAZIL and opposed by the EU, 
proposed reducing the duration of the first Scientific Conference 
to one and one-half days. The Secretary suggested bringing 
this issue to the CST Bureau’s attention. CHILE said the first 
Scientific Conference should be part of the CST and not a 
parallel process. Delegates adopted the provisional agenda and 
organization of work, and a contact group to draft conclusions 
was established. 

DRAFT WORK PLAN AND PROGRAMME: The 
Secretariat presented the draft four-year work plan and costed 
draft two-year work programme for the CST (ICCD/COP(9)/
CST/3 and ICCD/COP(9)/5/Add.3). The EU highlighted the need 
to monitor the results of the Scientific Conference and ensure 
they are communicated after the event. He said the timing and 
modality of future Scientific Conferences should be discussed. 
He said the work plan should have a road map for continued 
work on indicators, and the performance indicators should be 
quantified as much as possible. 

RESHAPING THE OPERATION OF THE CST: Delegates 
discussed whether country name plates were necessary during 
the Scientific Conference, with ARGENTINA, BRAZIL, 
CHINA, JAMAICA and PAKISTAN noting the political nature 
of the Conference. The HOLY SEE said “science should speak 
freely,” and MOROCCO agreed. 

SCIENTIFIC CONFERENCE
CST 9 Chair Kellner opened the first UNCCD Scientific 

Conference, which he said is pioneering a new approach. 
Scientific Conference Chair Dar recalled that the UNCCD 
recognizes the importance of science to understand land 
degradation and to find solutions to reduce vulnerability and 
increase resilience in developing countries. Mark Winslow, DSD 
Coordinator, outlined the consultative process leading to the 
organization of the first Scientific Conference. Elysabeth David, 
on behalf of Executive Secretary Gnacadja, highlighted the need 
to show the world why land matters, and said that it is only with 
this information that we can attract attention and finances. 

KEYNOTE ADDRESSES: Mahmoud Solh (DSD Chair 
and Director General, ICARDA) spoke on the role of science 
and technology in combating DLDD in the dry areas. During 
the discussion, NIGER highlighted the importance of national 
research programmes. BOLIVIA, CHILE and INDIA called 
attention to traditional knowledge. CHILE said desertification 
causes other than poverty should be considered. MOROCCO 
emphasized research for techniques and approaches. 
ARGENTINA said conservation agriculture requires inputs that 
small farmers may not be able to finance. 

Elena Abraham, Director, Instituto Argentino de 
Investigaciones de las Zonas Áridas (IADIZA) presented on 
“Desertification assessment and monitoring in Argentina.” 
Participants asked questions on: how these case study 
experiences could be extrapolated (NAMIBIA); the proportion of 
rehabilitated lands (NIGER); how farmers and policy makers can 
use the monitoring and assessment methodology (CUBA); the 
natural and human causes of land degradation and desertification 
(YEMEN); what proportion of land degradation can be ascribed 
to bad management or bad policies (ZIMBABWE); clarification 
on indicators used (GUINEA), and on socio-economic aspects 
(MEXICO).

ANNOUNCEMENTS BY GLOBAL INITIATIVES: 
Delegates were informed about four global initiatives. Mariam 
Akhtar-Schuster announced that European DesertNet would 
become DesertNet International. Michael Mortimore introduced 
the IUCN Dryland Opportunities Paradigm. Uriel Safriel said 
the Global Network of Dryland Research Institutes would 
be launched on 24 September. Tristan Tyrrell discussed the 
2010-Biodiversity Indicators Partnership. 

IN THE CORRIDORS
Many delegates left the second day of the COP frustrated 

that discussion had been dominated by procedural issues that 
remained unresolved. Some expressed concern that a lack of 
leadership might be to blame, which they anticipated would 
continue to hinder substantive discussions in the coming 
days. Regarding the strong tone of the JIU’s presentation on 
the GM-Secretariat relationship, many highlighted that the 
GM’s management was not put in question. One delegate 
summarized the views of many when he said working with the 
GM and Secretariat “is like dealing with divorced parents,” and 
highlighted the importance of an amicable solution with clear 
delineation of responsibilities.

Meanwhile, the full room for the Scientific Conference 
drew many positive reactions, with many noting the growing 
engagement of scientists from a variety of fields, as evidenced in 
the announcements of new scientific networks. 



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


